OA7

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Set 33 1996

LANGE WITH CONTROL COUNTY

THOMAS S. TRAMEL, III, as SHERIFF OF COLUMBIA COUNTY,

CASE NO.:

89,032

Petitioner,

First District Court of Appeal Case No.: 95-3971

v.

Third Judicial Circuit
Case No.: 90-314-CA

CHARLES STEWART, JR., and BEVERLY J. STEWART,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal,
First District

DARBY, PEELE, BOWDOIN & PAYNE Rod Bowdoin Florida Bar No. 172237 Teresa Byrd Morgan Florida Bar No. 0698954 327 North Hernando Street Post Office Drawer 1707 Lake City, Florida 32056-1707 (904) 752-4120 Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, citations to the record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the page number in the record. Citations to the trial transcript shall be referred to by the letter "T" followed by the page number in the transcript.

Petitioner shall be referred to as such or as "Sheriff Tramel" or "the sheriff." Charles Stewart and Beverly Stewart dissolved their marriage after these proceedings were initiated and the former Mrs. Stewart is, at times, referred to in the transcript as "Beverly Hall." However, to avoid confusion in this brief, Respondent Beverly Hall will continue to be referred to as "Beverly Stewart," or "Mrs. Stewart," and Respondents will be referred to as "the Stewarts" or "Respondents."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 29, 1995, the jury returned its verdict in this forfeiture proceeding. The verdict reflected the jury's determination that numerous items of personal property seized from Mr. and Mrs. Stewart after their arrest were illegal contraband that the Stewarts possessed in violation of the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act (T. 850-853). Such items included \$4,140.00 in cash, indoor plant-growing equipment, marijuana plants, materials used in the marijuana-growing operation, an intercom system that connected the barn where marijuana was grown to the kitchen of the Stewarts' residence, and other equipment related to the Stewarts' marijuana-growing operation (R. 528).

The verdict also reflected the jury's determinations regarding the Stewarts' real property, which consisted of a house, a large barn that was a separate structure from the house, and approximately 6.38 acres of land (T. 6; Plaintiff's Exhibit 1). The jury determined that money or proceeds obtained in violation of the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act was used to acquire, build, or improve this property (T. 854), and that 100% of this property was acquired, built, or improved with such illegally obtained proceeds (R. 528).

This case began in early 1990 when a young man named Chris Lutsko was arrested for illegal drug activity. Mr. Lutsko admitted to purchasing drugs from the Stewarts, and agreed to assist the

Columbia County Sheriff's Department in establishing that illegal sales were being made from the Stewarts' property by wearing a hidden microphone and allowing officers to record transactions between himself and both Mr. and Mrs. Stewart.

At trial, Sheriff Tramel established that Mr. Lutsko began obtaining marijuana from the Stewarts and selling it during his sophomore year in high school (T. 224). At that time, Mr. Lutsko lived with an Episcopal minister who thought the Stewarts were helping Mr. Lutsko by providing him with part-time work (T. 236). When Mr. Lutsko worked for the Stewarts, they often paid him with marijuana (T. 225-226). Later, they recruited him to work as a seller in their drug enterprise. Mr. Lutsko's testimony made clear that the Stewarts provided him with the means and enticement to become a drug dealer (T. 248-249, 324). The Stewarts gave him marijuana during the early days of their relationship (T. 225), and on one occasion Mrs. Stewart took him to a hotel in Gainesville, Florida, and seduced him (T. 326).

Mr. Lutsko began buying marijuana from the Stewarts while they lived at a prior location and before they began building the house at issue in this case (T. 227-228). Mr. Lutsko testified that he had purchased marijuana from the Stewarts at least 300 times, with approximately 200 of the purchases being made from Mr. Stewart and 100 from Mrs. Stewart (T. 238). He testified that he purchased

Assistant State Attorney Robert Dekle testified that the 300 sales of marijuana Mr. and Mrs. Stewart made to Chris Lutsko

marijuana from the Stewarts two to three times a week or, depending upon customer demand, as often as two to three times per day (T. 237). Mr. Lutsko confirmed that at times there would be two or three marijuana dealers or buyers present at the Stewart home, and that the Stewarts would weigh the requested amount of marijuana on scales (T. 231-232, 249). The purchases of marijuana were in varying amounts, and the price of a quarter-pound was approximately \$400.00 (T. 235, 241). Various other dealers who made such purchases were named at trial (T. 325, 249, 284).

The Columbia County Sheriff's Department followed rigorous procedures in its attempt to establish, without question, that it had probable cause to arrest the Stewarts and search their property. (T. 124-126). The Sheriff's Department tape recorded Mr. Lutsko make separate purchases of marijuana from both Mr. Stewart and Mrs. Stewart. During Mr. Lutsko's purchase from Mrs. Stewart, she advised him that the marijuana was of good quality, referring to it in the drug vernacular as "bad shit." (T. 134, 257, 348; Plaintiff's Exhibit 30). She also advised Mr. Lutsko not to go within a certain proximity of schools due to the enhanced penalties for possession or sale of drugs near schools in the state of Florida (T. 257-258). After the controlled purchases of marijuana were completed, the sheriff's office obtained a search

constituted 600 felonies (T. 353), as each transaction constituted both an illegal possession and an illegal sale. Not counted within these 600 felonies were the additional drug sales to other dealers established at trial.

warrant. Subsequently, they arrested both Mr. and Mrs. Stewart and searched their property to determine the extent of their drug sales operation.

Inside the Stewarts' house, the officers located a large bag of marijuana, a jar of marijuana, scales for weighing marijuana, plastic bags, numerous books with sophisticated instructions on the growing of marijuana, a metal box with marijuana paraphernalia and photographs, \$4,140.00 in cash, and other items including a posted credit policy (T. 16-33, 34-38; Plaintiff's Exhibits 6, 9-27). They also located one end of an intercom system that connected the house to the barn (Plaintiff's Exhibit 7). The large amount of cash they located included most of the money used to make the four tape-recorded purchases of marijuana, and this money was commingled with other money in a money pouch (T. 143, 147; Plaintiff's Exhibits 23, 32, 33). The posted credit policy explained that cash was expected and that no credit would be extended (T. 201). photographs that were located inside the metal box corroborated Sheriff Tramel's case against the Stewarts as they depicted Mr. Stewart, at various ages and at various times, standing in a large outdoor marijuana-growing operation next to plants that were taller than him (T. 42-46; Plaintiff's Exhibit 12). The photographs showed Mr. Stewart with hairstyles and clothing from the '70's and '80's (T. 715-716). Several of the Stewarts' personal photographs also depicted large quantities of processed marijuana bricks (Plaintiff's Exhibit 12B; T. 718-719).

The officers continued the search in the barn, which the residence concealed from sight from the roadway. While the barn obviously was a two-story structure, there were no windows on the second floor and there was no apparent means of access to the second floor (T. 8, 187). Mr. Stewart ultimately showed the officers that entrance to the second floor was gained by climbing shelves in the back corner of the first floor of the barn and moving a plywood trap door that was concealed by the floor joists on the second floor.²

A sophisticated marijuana-growing operation was set up on the second floor of the barn. Ray Byrne, an expert with regard to the production and sale of marijuana for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, testified that this marijuana-growing operation would have been expected to produce \$45,000.00 per year (T. 84), with the marijuana being produced being worth \$1,800.00 per pound (T. 107). The Stewarts apparently had recently purchased additional equipment for the growing of marijuana, and this equipment would have increased the production capabilities of their operation (T. 93-95).

Testimony indicated that the barn was obviously constructed for the purpose of housing the indoor growing operation (T. 8). Water pipes and wiring ran throughout the second floor of the barn

The entrance is depicted in the video taken at the premises (T. 216; Plaintiff's Exhibit 40) as well as in several photographs (Plaintiff's Exhibit 38).

where the marijuana was produced. The water system was obviously used to water the plants, and the electrical system was used to operate all of the electric controls, growing lights, temperature regulators, air conditioners, and other such equipment used in the sophisticated growing operation (T. 95-103).

While searching the second floor of the barn, the officers located the other end of the intercom system (T. 198). This system allowed a person in the second story of the barn to talk to another person inside the house (T. 202). The officers also found multiple holes drilled in the second floor of the barn that were used as peep holes. Through the holes, one could observe the driveway approaching the barn and other surrounding areas (T. 215).

At trial, Mr. Stewart admitted his involvement in the drug manufacturing operation³ (T. 712, 737-742). Mrs. Stewart, however, maintained that she was innocent of any criminal activity and that she had no knowledge of the drug manufacturing operation. By adopting this position, the Stewarts hoped to shield their real property from forfeiture by arguing that section 932.703(6)(c), Florida Statutes, which provided that property jointly titled between husband and wife could not be forfeited if one of the coowners could establish that he or she neither knew nor had reason

³ Mr. Stewart had admitted in his pre-trial deposition that he was involved in the drug manufacturing operation, but at such time had undertaken to conspire with Mrs. Stewart to accept total blame for the drug operation so that she could argue that she was an innocent party and the real property could be shielded from forfeiture pursuant to section 932.703(6)(c).

to know that the property was employed or was likely to be employed in criminal activity, prohibited forfeiture of their real property because it was jointly titled.

Although case law appears to provide that proof of knowledge is not necessary when property is purchased with illegal proceeds, Sheriff Tramel nevertheless was put to the burden of contending with Mrs. Stewart's innocent owner position. Ultimately, however, Mrs. Stewart's counsel⁴ opened the door to the admission of substantial evidence that established, beyond question, that she was not an innocent party with no knowledge of the pervasive drug activity within her residence (T. 354-362). With this fact irrefutably established, counsel for both Mr. and Mrs. Stewart stipulated during the charge conference that their clients knew of the criminal activity at their residence, and thereby removed "innocent co-owner" issue from the jury's determination (T. 816).

To meet the requirements necessary to obtain forfeiture of Mr. and Mrs. Stewart's personal property, Sheriff Tramel was required to prove that the items of personal property constituted illegal contraband in the form of money or of property that was either used in the production of marijuana, was itself the illegal drug, or was derived from the sale of marijuana. The verdict reflects that the jury was convinced that all of the items of personal property except two were subject to forfeiture under the

 $^{^{4}}$ Mr. and Mrs. Stewart were represented by separate counsel at trial.

court's instructions (R. 528).

After the admissions corroborating Mrs. Stewart's guilt, the legal issue remaining for the jury's determination with regard to the real property was whether the real property was purchased or improved, wholly or partially, with illegal proceeds from the sale of drugs. Mrs. Stewart's innocent co-owner defense had evaporated, and Sheriff Tramel did not seek to forfeit the properties of the Stewarts based upon the illegal use of their property as such was prohibited by the decision in <u>Butterworth v. Caggiano</u>, 605 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 1992). Rather, the sheriff sought forfeiture of the real property on the basis that any property which was acquired, built, or improved with illegal drug proceeds should be subject to forfeiture.

The sheriff anticipated that the Stewarts would raise the issue of whether an entire parcel of real property would be forfeitable if only a portion of the property were acquired, built, or improved with illegal proceeds. Accordingly, he requested, and the Stewarts agreed to, a jury verdict form that asked two interrogatory form questions allowing the jury first to determine whether illegal proceeds were used to acquire, build, or improve the real property and whether such should be forfeited, and second to determine what percentage of the real property was acquired, built, or improved by the use of illegal proceeds in the event the court only allowed such percentage to be forfeited (T. 854). As

stated above, the jury determined that 100% of the real property⁵ in question was acquired, built, or improved with illegal proceeds (R. 528).

The evidence supporting the jury's determination in this regard was substantial. It presented a detailed picture to the jury of the amount of money that had to have been invested in the purchase and improvement of the real property at issue, reflected the Stewarts' complete lack of evidence of any legitimate payments for such purchase and improvement. Consistent with the use of illegally obtained monies, the evidence showed that Stewarts did not pay for any significant part of the real property or improvements thereon by check or any other traceable method6 (T. 399). Rather, these payments were made almost completely in cash, with the majority of the payments being made between March 18, 1985, when the down payment on the property was made (T. 368), and 1989 when the barn was completed (T. 370). The evidence showed that after paying their normal and customary living expenses, the Stewarts could not possibly have had legitimately obtained monies with which to pay for the real property and improvements.

Testimony and legal documents show that the land cost \$18,000.00 (T. 368). Assuming the Stewarts' testimony to be

⁵ The property consisted of 6.38 acres, a house, a barn, and a long, paved driveway (Plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 38).

⁶ Sheriff Tramel established that the land and improvements cost between \$120,916.00 and \$139,463.00.

truthful, \$3,000.00 in cash was paid for the down payment, with the remaining \$15,000.00 being paid in cash in 1988, four years before such was due (T. 369, 727-728). Construction of the house was begun on or about March 1986 (T. 369).

Two expert witnesses were called regarding the cost of the improvements to the property. George Brannon, a real estate appraiser, established the square footage of the house and barn to be 4,454 square feet, with wood decks comprising an additional 989 square feet (T. 499). Don Barnes, an expert in the construction of residential structures (T. 466-467), confirmed that the square footage of the house and barn together was 4,454 square feet (T. 469) and that the driveway contained 8,600 square feet of surface (T. 470). Mr. Brannon testified that the cost to build the improvements would have been \$111,916.00, and that the materials alone, with no labor, would have cost \$75,543.00 (T. 498). Mr. Barnes testified that the cost of improvements would have been \$121,463.00, and the cost of materials, without labor, would have been \$81,380.00.

These figures were important to the jury's determination because the Stewarts admitted to paying various laborers in connection with construction of the house and barn, but still claimed that the total monies paid for labor and materials for the house was \$44,000.00, and for the barn was \$7,000.00 (T. 371-372). Apparently, the Stewarts were stuck in a position in which they could not prove legitimate sources of income to support their

arguments that they had sufficient cash to pay for the real property and improvements over a period of three to four years or less and, therefore, they attempted to persuade the jury that the house, barn, and extensive driveway could have been constructed for \$51,000.00. The Stewarts also had to deal with the evidence that conclusively established that they sometimes paid for labor with marijuana (T. 225-226).

The experts were asked if there was any possibility that the house and barn were constructed for \$11.45 per square foot, which would have been the cost of the structures if <u>all</u> labor had been performed by the owner (T. 500). Their response, obviously, was no (T. 500).

The Stewarts argued that a division of the real property between portions of the 6.38-acre parcel where drug sales did not occur and other portions where sales took place should be made. The testimony of George Brannon, a real estate appraiser, conclusively rebutted this argument. He testified that the property was zoned A-1, which was a residential zoning that allowed only one house per four acres and, therefore, under the Columbia County zoning ordinances, only one home site on the 6.38-acre parcel was allowed (T. 500-501). In light of this testimony, the Stewarts were unable to make any viable argument that the real property was divisible.

David Brewer, a certified public accountant, testified that he reviewed and audited extensive documents obtained during discovery

so that he could provide expert opinions regarding the Stewarts' financial abilities (T. 393). Mr. Brewer was asked to confirm information regarding the total legal sources of the Stewarts' income. The purpose of such inquiry was to determine whether the Stewarts would have had sufficient large sums of cash remaining after paying normal living expenses with which to buy land and build a house, barn, and extensive driveway in a period of three to four years.

Although Mr. Brewer was asked to determine the total legal sources of income for 1985 through 1989, and even though such numbers did not provide an amount of income that would allow a family of four to have any excess remaining funds, it should be noted that the building permit on the house was drawn in March 1986 (T. 723), and the Stewarts moved into the home in approximately July 1986, which would indicate that the home was substantially completed at that time (T. 723). In such case, the cash payments for the house and land would have been made over a two-year period. The barn was constructed in 1989 (T. 370). These matters are pointed out to emphasize the discrepancy between available excess income and the substantial monies that were required to buy the land and build the improvements thereon.

Mr. Brewer pointed out that the legal income available for Mr. and Mrs. Stewart and their family of four was \$18,612.33 in 1985, the year before the construction of the home was begun (T. 397). The income in 1986, when the house was substantially completed, was

only \$21,991.93 (T. 397). In 1986 through 1989, the income available averaged \$26,922.00 per year (T. 397). Mr. Brewer also pointed out a conspicuous irregularity in the handling of money by Mr. and Mrs. Stewart in that paychecks went into a bank account, but alleged payments for the house and barn were made substantially in cash, rather than by check (T. 399). Although Mr. and Mrs. Stewart claim that they built their barn for only \$7,000.00 (T. 400), which supposedly coincided with a bank loan, the certified public accountant's review turned up cash receipts for the barn of \$16,700.00, which indicated payments in cash far above the alleged cost of the barn (T. 400). When asked about the Stewarts' financial ability to build the house and barn and pay the costs associated therewith, the accountant stated:

Based upon my experience, to be able to pay that you'd have to have vastly more income. The information I reviewed indicated that savings habits and the amount of income left over after normal monthly expenses, based on their actual records, did not allow them to be able to pay that with after-tax income.

(T. 402). After discussing his audit and the Stewarts' expenditures, the accountant was asked what the Stewarts' expenditures revealed to him. He replied:

That would indicate that the money had to come from another source, be it loans, illegal income, money laundering, something of that nature.

(T. 402). Mr. Brewer also reviewed the property settlement agreement that Mr. and Mrs. Stewart entered into when they dissolved their marriage after their arrests (T. 403-406; Plaintiff's Exhibit 46). The list of items owned by the parties

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