SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS S. TRAMEL, III, as SHERIFF OF COLOMBIA COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

CHARLES STEWART, JR. and BEVERLY J. STEWART,

Respondents.

CASE NO.:

89,032

First District Court of

Appeal Case No.: 95-3971

Third Judicial Circuit

Case No.:

90-314-CA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District

STEPHEN N. BERNSTEIN

Attorney for the Appellant Post Office Box 1642 Gainesville, Florida 32602

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida's statute permitting civil forfeiture of real property violates Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution as applied to a homestead. Even though this case involves a proceeds theory of forfeiture, Florida's homestead protection prevails. A contrary holding would permit the Petitioner to circumvent the Constitutional Homestead Protection it afforded to Florida's citizens.

The Petitioners argument that title to the Respondents' homestead property never vested misses the mark and is improperly rooted in cases that have been either overruled or pertain solely to personal property issues. The Respondents obtained good title at the time of purchase of real estate in 1985, and improved their property with their own honest "sweat equity" in 1986. The subsequent criminal prosecution in 1990 does not disqualify this property from the constitutional homestead protection. It is important to recognize that the Florida Statute § 932.701-702 did not apply to real property until after 1989. In any event, Article X, §4 of the Florida Constitution prohibited the forfeiture of the respondent's homestead property.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIVIL FORFEITURE OF THE STEWART PROPERTY VIOLATES FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION OF HOMESTEAD PROPERTY.
 - A. CAGGIANO MANDATES THAT HOMESTEAD PROPERTY NOT BE SUBJECT TO FORCED SALE, INCLUDING FORFEITURE.

The Florida Constitution, as interpreted by the Florida Supreme Court, protects the Stewarts' home from forfeiture. <u>Butterworth v. Caggiano</u>, 605 So. 2d 56, 61 (Fla. 1992). In 1992, this Court struck down an attempted RICO forfeiture of a homestead. <u>Id.</u> at 58. Caggiano, the owner of the homestead, was convicted under RICO for fifteen counts of bookmaking, three of which actually occurred in his home. Since the property was homestead, it was held that Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution prevented forfeiture of Caggiano's home even when some of the crimes occurred there. <u>Id.</u> at 61.

This Court employed the "settled rule of constitutional interpretation" that a constitution's words should be given their most common meaning, "unless the text suggests that they have been used in a technical sense." <u>Id.</u> at 58. With regard to Florida's constitution, it was noted that there is no indication in the protection against forced sale of a homestead that some technical or special use of the language

is required. <u>Id</u>. Rather, "It appears that the homestead exemption uses broad, nonlegal terminology that was intended simply to guarantee that the homestead would be preserved against any involuntary divestiture by the courts, without regard to the technicalities of how that divestiture would be accomplished." <u>Id</u>. at 59 (emphasis added).

After recognizing that forfeitures are harsh penalties historically unfavored at both law and equity, this Court pointed out that Article X, Section 4 provides for only three specific exceptions to the homestead protection: (1) payment of taxes, (2) satisfying contracts entered into by the homeowner for the purchase or improvement of the homestead, and (3) satisfying contracts with laborers for work done on the homestead. <u>Id.</u> at 60. Since forfeiture is not one of the three listed exceptions, the court noted, it is precluded under the Florida Constitution. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Caggiano</u> reflects this Court's requirement of a "strict construction of the exceptions" to homestead protection. <u>Id</u>. at 61. Moreover, citing to the Kansas Supreme Court, <u>Caggiano</u> pointed out that it made no difference that the attempted divestiture was related to a criminal proceeding. <u>Id</u>. at 60. (citing <u>State ex rel. Apt. v. Mitchell</u>, 399 P.2d 556, 558 (Kan. 1965)). The Kansas court urged that "[t]he law provides for punishment of persons convicted of illegal acts, but the forfeiture of homestead rights guaranteed by our Constitution is not part of the punishment." <u>Id</u>.

This quotation directly disapproved of the law as it stood before <u>Caggiano</u>. See <u>DeRuyter v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 135, 138 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (holding that "forfeiture of property due to its use in a criminal enterprise . . . [is] entirely different from the 'forced sale' language in the constitution.")

Even though <u>Caggiano</u> addressed a forfeiture under RICO rather than the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act, the holding prevents forfeiture of the Stewarts' home in this case. *See* Jonathan D. Colan, Comment, *You Can't Take That Away From Me: The Sanctity of the Homestead Property and its Effect on Civil Forfeiture of the Home*, 49 U. MIAMI L. REV. 159, 182 (1994); <u>United States v. Lot 5, Fox Grove</u>, Alachua County, Florida, 23 F.3d 359, 362-63 (11th Cir. 1994). Unfortunately, few courts after <u>Caggiano</u> have faced this issue, and those that have simply cite <u>Caggiano</u> without elaborating. See <u>In re Lot 20</u>, Block H, Revise Map <u>of Royal Park Addition to Palm Beach</u>, Florida, 603 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (striking down RICO forfeiture).

In striking down the forfeiture, <u>Caggiano</u> made no distinction between RICO and the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act. The forced sale attempted by the seizing agency in <u>Caggiano</u> is identical to the forced sale attempted by Petitioner in this case. Regardless of the statute used, forfeiture, an unfavored practice at law and equity, is not a listed exception to Florida's Homestead protection. Thus, forfeiture

of the Stewarts' home should not be allowed in light of this Court's requirement that exceptions to Homestead protection be strictly construed.

Petitioner contends that footnote 5 of <u>Caggiano</u> allows it to seize the Stewart homestead. See <u>Caggiano</u>, 605 So. 2d at 60 n.5. Footnote 5 listed several cases argued by the State in which this Court allowed liens or forfeitures of homestead "where proceeds from fraud or reprehensible conduct were used to invest in, purchase, or improve the homestead." <u>Id</u>. Petitioner argues that since this is a civil forfeiture action based on a proceeds theory, footnote 5 allows the forfeiture. However, virtually all of the listed cases, fell within one of the three stated exceptions to the homestead provision, Id., but this case simply does not.

A total of six cases were listed in footnote 5. <u>Id.</u> The First District Court of Appeals stated at page 4 of its opinion that none of the listed cases permits forfeiture of the Stewart homestead. The first case listed is <u>Bessemer v. Gersten</u>, in which the court allowed a lien on homestead because the homeowners had accepted a deed with notice that failure to pay for upkeep of a community recreation facility would result in a lien on their home. 381 So. 2d 1344, 1348 (Fla. 1980). In this way, the court noted, the homeowners had contracted for improvement of their homestead (exception number 2, <u>supra</u>), and consented to the lien on the homestead. <u>Id.</u> In the second case, the homeowners contracted for the construction of an

addition to their home, an improvement under exception number 2, supra. LaMar v. Lechlider, 135 Fla. 703, 704-05, 185 So. 833, 834-35 (1939). The courts in the third and fourth cases did not allow the requested forfeitures. Jetton Lumber Co. v. Hall, 67 Fla. 61, 67, 64 So. 440, 442 (1914); Milton v. Milton, 63 Fla. 533, 537-38, 58 So. 718, 719 (1912). In the fifth case, the court allowed a lien on the homeowner's property after the homeowner had drawn checks from his employer's account to pay for improvements to his home (exception number 2, supra). Jones v. Carpenter, 90 Fla. 407, 415-16, 106 So. 127, 130 (1925). The court noted that the lien served as restitution for the creditors of the homeowner's employer, which was bankrupt. Id. at 130. Consequently, the employer was allowed to enforce the lien and collect the money the homeowner had taken for the purpose of improving his homestead. Id. The final case in footnote 5 is Tullis v. Tullis, 360 So. 2d 375 (1978). In Tullis, the court allowed a forced sale of a homestead because the exwife of the person claiming homestead also owned an undivided interest in the homestead. Id. at 376, 378. The court noted that a forced sale was the only way for the ex-wife to obtain a beneficial interest in the property. Id. at 378.

Petitioner may not successfully rely on footnote 5 to argue for the forfeiture.

The only court allowing a forfeiture that did not fit within one of the exceptions was

<u>Tullis</u>; however, allowing a forced sale to allow the ex-wife a beneficial interest in

the property is in no way analogous to allowing Petitioner to order a forced sale.

Thus, footnote 5 does not open a door through which Petitioner may seize Stewarts' constitutionally protected homestead.

Florida is not the only state providing near-absolute protection of the homestead. In Oklahoma ex rel. McCoy v. 1844 Burnt Oak Drive, the court analyzed Oklahoma's homestead exemption, which was very similar to Florida's, concluding that forfeiture of a homestead was not allowed. 831 P.2d 1008, 1010 (Okla. Ct. App. 1992). The court noted that Oklahoma's forfeiture statutes did not list homestead as something that could be forfeited Id. Rather, the Oklahoma forfeiture statutes simply listed real property as being forfeitable and the court noted that allowing this exception to the homestead protection would "open the door to further erosion of the very basis for its enactment." Id.

As McCoy demonstrates, since Florida's forfeiture statutes does not specifically list homestead as forfeitable property, forfeiture should not be allowed in this case. See §932.701(2)(a)6, Fla. Stat. (1993). By mentioning only real property, and not specifically mentioning any waiver of constitutionally protected area a strict construction infers that the legislature intended that forfeiture of a homestead not be allowed. See McCoy, 831 P.2d at 1010.

The Petitioner's reliance upon In the Matter of Property Seized from Bly, 456 NW 2d 195 (Iowa 1990) and Cox v. Wauddy, 433 NW 2d 716 (Iowa 1988) is misplaced. These cases precede this Court's Caggiano decision and was clearly distinguished by the First District Court of Appeal in footnote 1 at page 4 of its reversal of this case.

Even though the Stewart's may have violated Florida's drug laws, they did not consent to the forfeiture of their homestead. In Kansas ex rel. Braun v. 918 North

County Line Road, the court specifically rejected the argument that a defendant consents to a forfeiture by violating a state's drug laws. 840 P.2d 453, 455 (Kan. 1992). In striking down the States' attempt at seizing a homestead, the court, like the Caggiano court, also noted that forfeiture was not one of the three listed exceptions to Kansas' homestead protection. Id. Consequently, the Stewarts should not be deemed to have "constructively" consented to violation of their constitutionally protected homestead right.

B. THE ANALYSIS FROM OTHER STATE SUPREME COURTS IS COMPARABLE TO THIS COURT'S ANALYSIS IN CAGGIANO'S CONSIDERATION OF MAINTAINING THE HOMESTEAD PROTECTION

Many state constitutions give homeowners special protection against forced sale or governmental forfeiture. Alejandro Caffarelli, Comment, Civil Forfeiture

Hits Home: A Critical Analysis of United States v. Lot 5, Fox Grove, 79 MINN. L.

REV. 1447, 1460 (1995). In Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution, this special protection is extended to homestead in Florida. Section 4 provides in relevant part:

(a) There shall be exempt from forced sale under process of any court, and no judgment, decree or execution shall be a lien thereon, *except* for the payment of taxes and assessments thereon, obligations contracted for the purchase, improvement or repair thereof, or obligations contracted for house, field or other labor performed on the realty, the following property owned by a natural person: (1) a homestead

Art. X, § 4, Fla. Const. (emphasis added).

State Supreme Courts dealing with this issue generally find that the homestead protection provisions prohibit the forfeiture of real property, reasoning that the property is exempt from forced sale. Most recently, the support cited by other state courts for this proposition is <u>Butterworth v. Caggiano</u>, 605 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 1992), see <u>State ex Rel. Means v. 10 acres of land</u>, 877 P. 2d 597 (Oka. 1994). The discussion of <u>Caggiano</u> reveals that other courts perceive that the Florida

Constitution expressly provided for only three exceptions to the homestead exemption and that forfeiture was not one of these exceptions. In re: Bly, 456 NW 2d 195 (Iowa. 1990), the Iowa Supreme Court held that the forfeiture was a judicial sale within the meaning of the homestead provision and that in Iowa, homestead statutes are broadly and liberally construed in favor of the exemption while forfeiture statutes are severe sanction disfavored by the law and must be strictly construed. In Bly the Iowa Supreme Court held that where the forfeiture statutes did not mention the homestead exemption that it could not be construed to override the same homestead exemption.

The Iowa case of Cox v. Wauddy, 433 NW 2d 716 (Iwa. 1988) is to be distinguished both from Bly and the case at bar. In Wauddy, the Respondent was found to have committed a fraud in the transactions by which he obtained title to 420 acres of land from the Plaintiff, Cox. The trial court returned the ownership of this land to the Plaintiff and it is important to note that Wauddy did not appeal from the District Court's 1986 judgment and decree returning that land to the Plaintiff id at p. 718. Wauddy did not take an Appeal until after there was an attempt to execute a levy against the homestead property.

The other point of distinction noted by the Iowa Supreme Court was that as a general proposition, a constructive trust which is created by the fraudulent activity

of the Respondent creates a very unique situation. The Court there found that where the wrongfully obtained funds were fraudulently used to purchase the property, the property itself never belonged to the purchaser and therefore, Mr. Wauddy never obtained a homestead interest at any time. This is to be distinguished from the case at bar where the Stewarts clearly obtained a homestead interest in 1985 when they purchased the property at a time which preceded the modification of the Florida Statutes pertaining to forfeiture to include real property transactions. If the Stewarts had failed to take their initial appeal, as in <u>Wauddy</u>, they may find themselves in the same predicament. However that is not the case that this Court finds the parties to be in.

In <u>State ex rel. Braun v. Tract of land</u>, 251. Kan. 685, 840 P 2d 453 (1992), the Kansas Supreme Court found that a forced sale of homestead property was inappropriate. The Court clearly stated, "The Kansas Constitution specifically provides for three exemptions to the homestead exemption and that forfeiture is not one of them." It is here argued that the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Caggiano</u> and the First District Court of Appeals in the above-styled cause has held exactly the same position.

Two courts of appeal have taken an opposite view reasoning that homestead laws were not intended to shield criminal activity. In the matter of a <u>Parcel of Real</u>

Property, 166 Ariz. 197 801 P 2d 432 (App. 1990) it was held that the homestead exemption did not protect the forfeiture of that property. It is important to note that the homeowner, in that case however, had filed for his homestead exemption, only after, the forfeiture proceedings have been commenced. In People v. Allen, 767 P 2d 798 (Colo. App. 1988), the homestead exemption was held not to protect the property from forfeiture after it is used in criminal activity. It is most significant to underscore that both the Colorado and the Arizona courts in these two cases relied upon the Florida case of DeRuyter v. State, 521 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 5th Dist. 4, 1988) a case that has been superseded by this court's decision in Butterworth v. Caggaino, supra.

State ex rel. Means v. 10 Acres of Land, 877 P 2d 597 (Okl. 1994) is the most analogous case decided by another supreme court. In that case, Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence plead nolo contendere to the unlawful cultivation of marijuana among other offenses and received a five-year suspended-sentence. The state filed a Notice of Seizure of the 10 acres on which the property rested based on the identification of 67 marijuana plants found on the property. Both sides stipulated that the land in question was the homestead of Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence and they had moved to dismiss the forfeiture proceeding on the basis of Oklahoma's homestead exemption. The Court, after reviewing many of the same cases previously cited,

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